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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

*

DIONE RODMAN, *
Plaintiff *
2 * CIVIL No. 12-cv-3218-JKB
MARYLAND DEPARTMENT OF, *
HUMAN RESOURCES et al.,
x
Defendants
* * * * * * ) * * * * * *

MEMORANDUM

Dioné Rodman (“Plaintiff”) brought this guagainst Maryland Department of Human
Resources (“DHR”), Baltimore City Department®dcial Services (“BCDSS”), Sylvia Phillips,
Jennifer Fowlkes, Sonja Lorick and Ron Alléeollectively, “Defendard”) alleging claims
under 42 U.S.C. 88 1983, 1985(2) and 1986, constitatiagiolations and multiple Maryland tort
law claims. Now pending before the Court &refendants’ motion to dismiss the complaint
(ECF No. 10), Defendants’ motion to dismidse first amended complaint (ECF No. 14),
Plaintiff's motion to file a econd amended complaint (ECF Na)), and Plaintiff's motion to
stay proceedings (ECF No. 22). The issues have been briefed and no hearing is required. Local
Rule 105.6. For the reasons set forth below, Dadats’ motion to dismiss the complaint (ECF
No. 10) will be DENIED AS MOOT, Defendantsiotion to dismiss the first amended complaint
(ECF No. 14) will be GRANTEDPIaintiff's motion to file asecond amended complaint (ECF
No. 20) will be DENIED, and Plaintiff's motioto stay proceedings (ECF No. 22) will be

DENIED AS MOOT.
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. BACKGROUND*

Plaintiff receives state benefits in the foofnfood stamps and tempoy cash assistance.
(Am. Compl. 1 2.) These benefits are dmited through BCDSS, which is a local department
of DHR. (d. 11 2.) Plaintiff alleges that she signecbatract with BCDSS “eiiting her to [the
state benefits] as long as she complied witd provisions of Work Activity,” which is a
“program established under the Maryland State Lawd’ [ 3, 4.) Plaintiff further alleges that
at various times since 2010, Defendants have détaqtiff the benefits to which she is entitled
under state law and ignorétke legal processes for terminating such benefits.

I. LEGAL STANDARD

Leave to file an amended or supplemermgldading should be “freely give[n] where
justice so requires.” #b. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2). A district courhay deny leave, Weever, if: (1)
the new pleading would prejudice the opposingypd?2) the moving party has acted in bad
faith; or, (3) the new pleading would be futilee( if it could not withstand a motion to dismiss).
Laber v. Harvey438 F.3d 404, 426 (4th Cir. 200®erkins v. United State$5 F.3d 910, 917
(4th Cir. 1995). If a districtourt chooses to dg leave, it must givgustifying reasons.See id.
(citing Foman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962)).

A motion to dismiss undereb. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) is a test dhe legal sufficiency of a
complaint. Edwards v. City of Goldsboyd78 F.3d 231, 243 (4th Cir. 1999). To pass this test, a
complaint need only present enduftactual content to rendersitclaims “plausible on [their]
face” and enable the court to “draw the reasonaiiégence that the defendant is liable for the
misconduct alleged.’Ashcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). The plaintiff may not,

however, rely on naked assertiospeculation, or legal conclusion8ell Atl. v. Twombly550

! The facts are recited here as alleged by the Plaintiff, this being a motion to diSeestharra v. United States
120 F.3d 472, 474 {4Cir. 1997).



U.S. 544, 556-57 (2007). In assessing the merits mbtion to dismiss, the court must take all
well-pled factual allegations in the complaint ®ge and construe ¢m in the light most
favorable to the plaintiff.lbarra v. United Statesl20 F.3d 472, 474 (4th Cir. 1997). If after
viewing the complaint in this light the courtro®t infer more than “the mere possibility of
misconduct,” then the motion should beugged and the complaint dismissddbal, 556 U.S. at
679.

A plaintiff filing pro seis held to a “less stringent standard[]” than is a lawyer, and the
court must liberally construe hisaoins, no matter how “inartfully” pled Erickson v. Pardus
551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007xccord Brown v. N.C. Dept. of Cor612 F.3d 720, 724 (4th Cir. 2010)
(observing that liberal consittion of a complaint is pacularly appropriate where pro se
plaintiff alleges ciy rights violations). However, even pro se complaint must meet a
minimum threshold of plausibilitySee, e.g., O'Neil v. Pond94 Fed. App'x. 795, 796 (2d Cir.
2010).

It is well established that “the power &tay proceedings is incidental to the power
inherent in every court to caot the disposition of the caes on its docket with economy of
time and effort for itself, for counsel, and for litigantd.andis v. N. Am. Cp299 U.S. 248, 254
(1936). Courts should considerdbk factors when ruling on a mai to stay: “(1) the interests
of judicial economy; (2) hardshignd equity to the moving parifythe action is not stayed; and
(3) potential prejudice to the non-moving partyddhnson v. DuPuy Orthopaedics, Inso. 12
Civ. 2274 (JFA), 2012 WL 4538642, *2 (B.C. Oct. 1, 2012) (quotirgeyers v. Bayer AG 43

F. Supp. 2d 1044, 1049 (E.D. Wis. 2001)).



1. ANALYSIS

Every party to litigation in federal cours entitled to “amend its pleading once as a
matter of course within . . . 21 days afservice of a motion under Rule 12(b).EtFR.Civ. P.
15(a)(1). Plaintiff took advantage of this ruiden she filed the first amended complaint (ECF
No. 13) on March 1, 2013. Defendants moved to dismiss the first amended complaint on March
15, 2013. (ECF No. 14.) At thpoint, Plaintiff was entitled to amend the complaint “only with
the opposing party’s written congesr the court’'s leave.” #b. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2). However,
on April 5, 2013, Plaintiff filed the second amedd®mplaint (ECF No. 20) without indicating
that Defendants consented to thenfjlior seeking the Court’s leave.

The Court will treat the filing of the secomathended complaint as a motion for leave to
file a second amended complaint, and tleit€will deny the motiorbecause the amendment
would be futile. The Court has closely congzhthe second amended complaint to the first
amended complaint, and the documents are aliestical. The only differences that the Court
has identified are that (1) Plaintiff inserted-g@graph 10 of the second amended complaint, and
(2) Plaintiff attached four exhibits to the second amended compldihe new paragraph states
that Plaintiff complied with tb notice requirements set forth ithe Local Government Tort
Claims Act; that provision is not relevant toaRitiff's allegations bBcause Plaintiff has not
asserted any claims against local governmenthe new exhibits are sb irrelevant to the
motion to dismiss because they do not add any relevant information that is not pled in the first
amended complaint. Therefore, the Court déhy Plaintiff's motion to file a second amended

complaint.

2 |t was difficult for the Court to compare the two docursebecause Plaintiff did not filed “a copy of the amended
pleading in which stricken material has been lined through or enclosed in brackets and new matbdah has
underlined or set forth in bold-faced type,” as required by Local Rule 103.6(c).
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A. Sovereign Immunity

Plaintiff's claims against DHR and BCDSS are barred by the Eleventh Amendiment.
States enjoy immunity from suits for damagender the Eleventh Amendment to the U.S.
Constitution, and that protection extends to arms of the skdtteHealthy City Sch. Dist. Bd. of
Ed. v. Doyle 429 U.S. 274, 280 (1977). DHR is “estaldid” by state law “as a principal
department of the State government.” D.MCODE HuM. SERvS. § 2-201. BCDSS is also
established by state law as acél department” of DHR.d. § 3-201. DHR has the power to
determine whether state or federal funds wil} par the administrative costs incurred by DHS,
but state law “does not prosceila county from appropriatinglditional funds for administrative
costs.” Id. § 3-202.

Several courts, including the FaluCircuit, have held thatnother “local department” of
DHR is an arm of the stateSee Keller v. Prince George’s Cnt@23 F.2d 30, 32 (4th Cir.
1991); Lowery v. Prince George’s Cnty960 F. Supp. 952, 954-55 (Md. 1997) (holding
claims against agency employees were lale Eleventh Amendment sovereign immuntty).
Both of those decisions relied heavily on affida reflecting that the vast majority of the
department’s funding came from the state feukral governments, and BCDSS did not submit
similar affidavits in this case. However,thre years since these opmins, the Supreme Court has
emphasized that preventing states from the fisophact of a judgment is not the only policy
underlying the Eleventh AmendmenSee Regents of the Univ. of Cal. v. D689 U.S. 425

(1997). “The preeminent purpose of state sovenamnunity is to accord States the dignity that

3 Although Defendants only addressed sovereign immunity in the portion of their brief dealingevMaryland

tort law claims, the Court will consider the defense in connection with all of the cl&essSuarez Corp. Indus. v.
McGraw, 125 F.3d 222, 227 (4th Cir. 1997) (“a court ought to consider the issue of Eleventh Amendment immunity
at any time, evesua spont§.

* See also Studli v. Children & Youth Sen2012 WL 5420322 (D. Md. Nov. 6, 201Davis v. Dept. of Social
Servs. Of Baltimore Cnty941 F.2d 1206 (Table), *4 (4th Cir. 1991).
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is consistent with their status as sovereign entitieged. Mar. Comm’n v. S.C. State Ports Auth.
535 U.S. 743, 760 (20023ee alsoWright, Miller & Cooper, 13 ED. PRAC. & PrROC. JURIS. §
3524 (3d ed.) (summarizing the redmt case law). Given the Supreme Court’s de-emphasis of
the financial effects of a judgment and the Fourth Circuit’s holdiri¢eiter, DHR and BCDSS

are protected by Eleventh Amendment sovereign immunity.

The first amended complaint does not speeifiyether Plaintiff's claims against the
individual Defendants are alleged against them éir thbersonal or official capacities. In such a
case, “the court must examine the natureghef plaintiff's claims, the relief sought, and the
course of proceedings to determine whether a etltal is being sued in a personal capacity.
Biggs v. Meadows66 F.3d 56, 61 (4th Cir. 1995). As explained more fully below, the Court
need not perform that analysis in this case, ise#®laintiff failed to allege facts in the amended
complaint to support her federal claims.

B. Counts | through IV — Federal Statutory Claims

Count I—Plaintiff's claim for a “violabn under 42 U.S.C. § 1983"—must be dismissed
against all Defendants, regardlegsthe capacity in which they ersued or the remedy sought.
Section 1983 “merely provides a mechanism fdoeing individual rights secured elsewhere,
[so] . . . one cannot go into cowmd claim a violation of § 1983.Gonzaga Univ v. DQe536
U.S. 273, 285 (2002) (internal citations and quotatnarks omitted). Therefore, the Court will
dismiss Count I.

In Count II, Plaintiff alleges that BCDS&orick and Phillips violated 42 U.S.C. §
1985(2) by willingly conspiringto deter Plaintiff “by forcefrom testifying to the matters
pending against BCDSS’s actions” in the Maryldbffice of Administratve Hearings. (Am.

Compl.  70.) Plaintiff alleges that thenmad Defendants accomplished this “by failing to



submit [Plaintiff's] case file as evidence the hearing, . . . failing to submit the correct
information in [Plaintiff's] narrated notes[,] and failing to submit the missing information in
[Plaintiff's] case file” to the Maryland Office of Administrative Hearing$d.) This claim fails
because Plaintiff does not allege that Defendants conspired to deter her from testifying in a
“court of the United States,” as required by the stati8ee8 1985(2);Morast v. Lance807

F.2d 926, 930 (11th Cir. 1987) (holding that an adstiative agency is not a court of the United
States within the meaning of 8§ 1985ge also Kush v. Rutledgé60 U.S. 719, 724 (1983).
Therefore, the Court will dismiss Count II.

In Count Ill, Plaintiff allege that BCDSS, Lorick, Allen @ahPhillips violated 42 U.S.C.
§ 1985(2) by willingly conspiring for the poose of impeding, hindering, obstructing and
defeating the due course of justice in the StdtMaryland. This clan fails because, among
other reasons, Plaintiff does naitege facts to support the inémce that “[D]efendants were
motivated by racial or other ce$¥ased, invidiously discriminatognimus,” as reqted to state
a claim under the second part of 8 1985@¢ge Sellner v. Panagoyls65 F. Supp. 238, 246 (D.
Md. 1982). Therefore, the Cawwrill dismiss Count Ill.

Count IV must be dismissed because Riffionly asserts this claim against DHR and
BCDSS. For the reasons explained above, ttsm is barred by sovereign immunity.
Therefore, the Court will dismiss Count IV.

C. Counts V through IX — Federd Constitutional Claims

In Counts V and VI, Plaintiff sserts claims for violations tfie Sixth Amendment to the

U.S. Constitution against Lorick.These claims fail because theplication of that amendment

is limited by its terms to “criminal prosecutionsThe amended complaint alleges various flaws

® Claim against BCDSS (Count V) is barred by sovereign immunity.
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in civil administrative proceedings, which aret moiminal prosecutions. Therefore, the Court
will dismiss Counts V and VI.

In Count VII, the amended complaint assea claim for violations of the Eighth
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Thitaim will be dismissed because the Eighth
Amendment only applies to treatmentpofsoners after criminal convictionsSee United States
v. Hall, 551 F.3d 257, 273 n.19 (4th Cir. 2009). Themftne Court will dismiss Count VII.

In Counts VIII and IX, the amended complaiasserts claims for violations of the
Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitutioaiagt all Defendants. Count VIII alleges that
Defendants willfully and purposefully deprived Pi@lif of her procedural due process rights “by
terminating [Plaintiff's benefits] without meritwithout proper notificabns, without a fair
hearing, without a full evidentiary hearing,” andhwut the various procedural protections that
accompany such a hearing. (Am. Compl. Y 8Jrder the standard announced by the Supreme
Court in Goldberg v. Kelly 397 U.S. 254 (1970), Plaintiff waentitled to a pre-termination
hearing with “minimal procedural safeguards,” including notice and an opportunity to be heard.
Id. at 266-68.

Plaintiff's claim for deprivatiorof procedural due process fails because she fails to allege
facts to support the allegation that she wasgnan notice of pre-termation hearings and an
opportunity to be heard. Plaifitpleads generally that she was denied “proper notifications,” but
the amended complaint alleges no facts to suppirtiriference. (Am. Compl. § 87.) In fact,
the amended complaint contains many allegatsunggesting that Plaintiff received adequate
notice from Defendants of her potential terminafiimm [the programs at issue.] For example,
the amended complaint alleges that Plaintiff “waaliciously sent numerous notices . . . stating

that she had not complied” with certain requiesmts of the programs. (Am. Compl. | 15.)



More specifically, Plaintiff alleges thahe received a notice from BCDSS on August 9, 2010,
informing her that she would nogceive certain benefits for certain months because she failed to
comply with the program’s work activity requirementsld. (f 22.) On “March 25, 2011,
[Plaintifff was sent a notice stating that shad failed to appear for a redetermination
appointment and her [benefitipd been terminated.” Id(  28.) Plaintiff alleges that she
received a similar notice aboutdifferent program on March 31, 20%1In addition, Plaintiff
alleges that at various times she successfulhgaled various terminations of her benefitSed
Am. Compl. 11 12, 19, 21, 39, 40.). Taken togethhese allegationauggest that Plaintiff
received procedural due procesannection with the terminatiorts her benefits. Therefore,
the Court will dismiss Count VIII.

Count IX alleges that Defendants violated Ri#fs right to substative due process by
denying “without just cause” her rights to receive tenefits. (Am. Compl. 1 90.) In order to
state a claim for a violation fubstantive due prossg, Plaintiff must &ge that Defendants
deprived her of a property interest in a way filsdtso far beyond the outer limits of legitimate
governmental action thato processould cure the deficiency.’Sylvia Dev. Corp. v. Calvert
Cnty., Md, 48 F.3d 810, 827 (4th Cir. 199mphasis in original) (citingove v. Peppersack
47 F.3d 120, 122 (4th Cir. 1995)). Conduct thatsrigethe level of a wiation of substantive
due process must be so egregithet it “shocks the conscience.County of Sacramento v.
Lewis 523 U.S. 833, 846-47 (199&ee also Huggins v. Prince George’s Cnty., M@&3 F.3d

525, 535 (4th Cir. 2012). In ddion, the substantes due process inqyirrequires “an exact

® The Court recognizes that some of the allegations imhended complaint could be interpreted, in isolation, to
suggest Plaintiff's receipt dfenefits was terminated at various timathout a pre-termination hearingSde, e.g.

Am. Compl. T 26 (Plaintiff “was sent a notice stating g was non-compliant [with certain requirements] and her
[receipt of benefits] was terminatedifl. 37 (same).) However, in the cexit of the entire amended complaint, it

is impossible to determine whether these were Plaintiff's first notices of the alleged violation. At no point does
Plaintiff unambiguously allege a specifinstance in which her benefits weéeeminated withouteceiving notice of,

and an opportunity to be heard atpre-termination hearing.
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analysis of [the] circumstances” because thesss depend on context and “are not . . . subject
to mechanical application.L.ewis 523 U.S. at 850.

The allegations in the amended complaint failrise to the level of a violation of
substantive due proce$s.Plaintiff's allegations against Defendant Lorick are the closest to
sustaining the substantive due g#ss claim, but these allegations are insufficient. The amended
complaint alleges that Lorick tentionally misrepresented facbout Plaintiff's eligibility for
the benefits she sought and terminated Plaintifsefits as punishment for contacting Lorick’s
superiors. $eeAm. Compl. 11 38, 44, 46.) These actians not “so far beyond the outer limits
of legitimate governmental action thad processcould cure the deficiency.'Sylvia Dev, 48
F.3d at 827. In fact, the amended complainbuets that Plaintiff has peatedly prevailed in
appeals of the decisions to terminate her beneféee,(e.g.Am. Compl. § 13.) Therefore, the
Court will dismiss Count IX.

D. Counts X through XVIII — State Law Claims

The Court declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff's state law claims,
which are the only remaining clainms this action. As a generalatter, state law claims belong
in state court. Given the early resolution of flederal claims in the amended complaint, the
interests of efficiency and judalieconomy would not be furthered by an exercise of this Court’s

supplemental jurisdiction. Therefore, the Court will dismiss Counts X through XVIII.

" Many of the allegations, including Plaintiff's repeated reference to “vicious” and “malicious” notices of Plaintiff's
failure to comply with the programs’ requirements are irrelevant to thigsasdlecause they constitute conclusory
allegations of wrongdoing that are not supported by dpefttual allegations. The & is true of Plaintiff's
allegations that Defendant Lorick included “fraudulent information” in the case file that was sent to the Maryland
Office of Administrative Hearings.
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E. Plaintiff's Motion to Stay Proceedings

The Court will deny as moot Plaintiff’'s motida stay proceedings (ECF No. 22) because
the issue it raises—that Plaintiff's notice of atdnas not yet been deniegl the Maryland State
Treasurer—is not relevant to the reasoning above.

IV.  CONCLUSION

Accordingly, an order shall issue DENYIN&S MOOT Defendants’ motion to dismiss
the complaint (ECF No. 10), GRANTING Defendants’ motion to dismiss the first amended
complaint (ECF No. 14)., DENYING Plaintiff's motion to file a second amended complaint

(ECF No. 20), and DENYING AS MOOT Plainti’'motion to stay proceedings (ECF No. 22).

Dated this 24th day of May, 2013

BY THE COURT:

/s
James K. Bredar
UnitedState<District Judge
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